

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Veterinary Microbiology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/vetmic

Review article

Antagonizing cytokine-mediated JAK-STAT signaling by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus

Liping Yang, Yan-Jin Zhang*

Molecular Virology Laboratory, VA-MD College of Veterinary Medicine and Maryland Pathogen Research Institute, University of Maryland, College Park, MD, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 5 October 2016 Received in revised form 22 November 2016 Accepted 27 December 2016

Keywords: PRRSV JAK-STAT signaling JAKs STATs Innate immunity

ABSTRACT

Janus kinase (JAK)-signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) signaling pathway is activated by myriad cytokines, which are involved in regulation of cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, immunity and inflammatory response. Because of its significance in immune response, JAK-STAT pathway is often targeted by pathogens, including porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). PRRSV causes reproductive failure in sows and respiratory disease in pigs of all ages. A typical feature of the immune response to PRRSV infection in pigs is delayed production and low titer of virus neutralizing antibodies, and weak cell-mediated immune response. One of the possible reasons for the weak protective immune response is that PRRSV interferes with cytokinemediated JAK-STAT signaling, PRRSV inhibits interferon-activated JAK-STAT signaling by blocking nuclear translocation of STAT1 and STAT2. The mechanism is that PRRSV non-structural protein 1 β (nsp1 β) induces degradation of karyopherin α 1 (KPNA1), a critical adaptor in nucleo-cytoplasmic transport. PRRSV also antagonizes IL6-activated JAK-STAT3 signaling via inducing degradation of STAT3. In this review, we briefly introduce JAK-STAT signaling, summarize the PRRSV interference with it, and provide perspective on the perturbation in the context of PRRSV-elicited immune response.

© 2016 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 58 |
|----|---|----|
| | 1.1. JAKs and STATs | 58 |
| | 1.2. STAT signaling and functions | 58 |
| | 1.3. PRRSV | 60 |
| 2. | PRRSV interference with JAK-STAT signaling | 62 |
| | 2.1. PRRSV inhibits IFN-mediated JAK-STAT signaling | 62 |
| | 2.2. PRRSV inhibits JAK-STAT3 signaling | 62 |
| | 2.3. PRRSV interference with other STATs and JAKs | 62 |
| 3. | Perspective | 63 |
| | 3.1. PRRSV and IFN-mediated JAK-STAT signaling | 63 |
| | 3.2. PRRSV antagonizes JAK-STAT3 signaling pathway | 63 |
| | 3.3. PRRSV's effect on STAT2/5/6 signaling | 63 |
| 4. | Conclusion | 63 |
| | Conflicts of interest | 64 |
| | Acknowledgement | 64 |
| | References | 64 |
| | | |







1. Introduction

Cytokines are a broad and loose group of small cell-signaling proteins that play important roles in cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, angiogenesis, immunity and inflammatory response. They include interferons (IFN), interleukins (IL), chemokines, lymphokines, and tumor necrosis factors (TNF). They are produced by a variety of cells, including macrophages, B and T lymphocytes, mast cells, endothelial cells, epithelial cells, fibroblasts, and various stromal cells. Cytokines that are produced at the site of infection stimulate and coordinate innate and adaptive immune responses against invading pathogens (Gonzalez-Navajas et al., 2012; Iwasaki and Medzhitov, 2015; Takaoka and Yanai, 2006). They act through their matching receptors on the surface of target cells, followed by cascades of intracellular signaling. One such frequently activated intracellular signaling is the JAK-STAT pathway, which is indispensable and pivotal in many biological processes including immunity and inflammatory response (O'Shea et al., 2015; Stark and Darnell, 2012). Dysregulation of JAK-STAT signaling results in immunodeficiency and immune-mediated disorders (O'Shea and Plenge, 2012; O'Shea et al., 2015). Mutations in the components of JAK-STAT pathway cause immunodeficient and autoimmune disorders (Casanova et al., 2012; Kane et al., 2014). Due to the importance of JAK-STAT signaling in the host immune response, it is often targeted by pathogens, including PRRSV (Patel et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013a, 2013b).

PRRSV causes a contagious disease that is characterized by reproductive failure in sows and respiratory disease of variable severity in pigs of all ages (Lunney et al., 2016). PRRS has caused substantial economic losses to the swine industry and remains one of the most economically important diseases in pigs since it was first reported in 1987 (Holtkamp et al., 2013; Neumann et al., 2005). A typical feature of the immune response to PRRSV infection in pigs is delayed production and low titer of virus neutralizing antibodies, and weak cell-mediated immune response (Labarque et al., 2000; Lunney et al., 2016; Xiao et al., 2004). PRRSV infection is also characterized by prolonged viremia followed by the persistent presence in regional lymph nodes for as long as 250 days (Wills et al., 2003). One of the possible reasons for the weak protective immune response is that PRRSV interferes with innate immunity, including type I interferons (IFNs), and cytokinemediated JAK-STAT signaling (Albina et al., 1998; Buddaert et al., 1998; Patel et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2012a; Wang et al., 2013b; Wang and Zhang, 2014).

1.1. JAKs and STATs

In mammals, there are four JAKs: JAK1, JAK2, JAK3, and Tyk2, ranging in size from 120 to 140 kDa (Haan et al., 2006). JAK1, JAK2, and Tyk2 are ubiquitously expressed, whereas JAK3 expression is restricted to cells of the hematopoietic system. The JAK protein is pre-associated with cytokine receptors in the cytoplasmic side and is an important determinant of their levels and signaling potential (Haan et al., 2006). Upon cytokine binding, the receptor chains are brought into close proximity, leading to the juxtaposition of two JAK kinase domains and consequent trans-phosphorylation. Once activated, JAKs phosphorylate STAT proteins via Src homology 2 (SH2) domain interaction (Heim et al., 1995). Even though responding to different cytokines, JAKs selected by different receptors activate specific STAT members for defined functions (Haan et al., 2006).

There are seven mammalian STAT proteins: STAT1, STAT2, STAT3, STAT4, STAT5A, STAT5B, and STAT6, which range from 750 to 950 amino acids in polypeptide length and feature several conserved domains (Schindler, 1999; Stark and Darnell, 2012). STATs are latent transcription factors located in the cytoplasm until

activated. Each STAT member responds to a defined set of cytokines (Kuchipudi, 2015; O'Shea and Plenge, 2012; O'Shea et al., 2015). The seven STATs go through similar activation processes and exhibit global conservation in function (Stark and Darnell, 2012). In brief, ligand-mediated receptor multimerization leads to trans-phosphorylation of JAKs, which then create docking sites in the receptor for STATs and phosphorylate them. Phosphorylated STATs form homodimer or heterodimer complexes, followed by translocation into the nucleus by importins and binding to response element in DNA to activate or repress transcription of a defined set of genes (Stark and Darnell, 2012).

1.2. STAT signaling and functions

Among the seven STATs, STAT1 and STAT2 mainly mediate the IFN-activated signaling (O'Shea and Plenge, 2012). STAT1 is involved in signaling by type I, type II, and type III IFNs. In response to type I IFNs (IFN- α or IFN- β), STAT1 and STAT2 are phosphorylated, followed by heterodimer formation and then interaction with interferon regulatory factor 9 (IRF9) to form a heterotrimer known as interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) (Darnell et al., 1994) (Fig. 1A). The ISGF3 is translocated into nucleus and binds to interferon-stimulated response element (ISRE) in DNA to activate the expression of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs). Upon IFN- γ stimulation, activated STAT1 forms homodimers, followed by nuclear translocation and activation of gene expression via binding to interferon-gamma-activatedsequence (GAS) in DNA (O'Shea and Plenge, 2012). Type III IFNs also activate STAT1 and STAT2 for ISRE transactivation like type I IFNs (Zhou et al., 2007).

In addition to the canonical signaling described above, IFN α signaling occurs through alternative complexes containing STAT2 and IRF9 without STAT1 (Bluyssen and Levy, 1997; Fink and Grandvaux, 2013) (Fig. 1B). Moreover, STAT2 can form heterodimer with other STATs, like STAT3 and STAT6, followed by binding to diverse sequences, like GAS. Further studies demonstrate the existence of a STAT1-independent IFN signaling pathway, in which STAT2/IRF9 directs a prolonged antiviral activity (Blaszczyk et al., 2015; Bluyssen, 2015).

STAT3 is activated by many cytokines and had multiple functions including differentiation of T helper 17 (Th17) and generation of CD8⁺ T cell memory response (Chen et al., 2006; O'Shea et al., 2015; Villarino et al., 2015). Numerous cytokines including IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-10, IL-11, IL-12, IL-21, IL-22, IL-27, oncostatin M (OSM), IFN- γ , TNF- α and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), trigger STAT3 activation (Garbers et al., 2015; Kuchipudi, 2015). The IL-6 family of cytokines including IL-6, OSM, and LIF bind to the receptor complex containing the common glycoprotein 130 (gp130) and activate STAT3, known as gp130/JAK-STAT3 signaling (Fig. 2). STAT3 is needed for differentiation of follicular T helper and Th1 cells (Ray et al., 2014), as well as activation and maturation of dendritic cells (DCs) (Park et al., 2004). Mutations in STAT3 cause autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome, a rare multisystem primary immunodeficiency characterized by recurrent bacterial infections in skin and lung and with abnormally high levels of IgE (Holland et al., 2007; Minegishi et al., 2007). STAT3 is indispensable for promoting host defense against virus infections. For instance, during Herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1) infection, STAT3 promotes the activation of CD8+ T cells response (Yu et al., 2013). It has been shown that gp130-STAT3 signaling is critical for the innate immune response against coxsackievirus B3 virus (CVB3) infection (Yajima et al., 2006). In addition, STAT3 plays a protective role in regulating virus-induced proinflammatory response, as shown in STAT3 knock-out studies (El Kasmi et al., 2006; Kobayashi et al., 2003; Matsukawa et al., 2003). Highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5N1 virus induces strong





Fig. 1. PRRSV interference with type I IFN-activated JAK-STAT signaling. A. Canonical signaling. IFN- α/β binds to their receptors IFNAR-1 and IFNAR-2 on the cell membrane and activates the JAK-STAT1/STAT2 pathway. The phosphorylated STAT1 and STAT2 form heterodimer, followed by interaction with IRF9 to form interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3). Karyopherin α 1 (KPNA1), an adaptor protein binding ISGF3, is essential to mediate the nuclear import of ISGF3 via interaction with karyopherin β 1 (KPNB1). The ISGF3 binds to interferon-stimulated response element (ISRE) in DNA to activate transcription of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs). "P" besides STATs indicates phosphorylation. PRRSV nsp1 β inhibits ISGF3 nuclear translocation via inducing degradation of KPNA1. PRRSV N protein also inhibits ISGF3 nuclear translocation. PRRSV nsp2 reduces ISG15 production and conjugation via its deubiquitination activity. PRRSV induces elevation of miRNA miR-30c to downregulate JAK1 and SOCS1 to inhibit JAKs. PRRSV inhibits PKR during its early infection of pulmonary alveolar macrophages. B. STAT1-independent signaling. Type I IFNs activate alternative JAK-STAT2 signaling without STAT1. The ISGF3-like complex binds to ISRE and interferon-gamma-activated sequence (GAS) to activate alternative sets of ISGs. PRRSV reduces STAT2 protein to inhibit this pathway.



Fig. 2. PRRSV interference with JAK-STAT3 signaling activated by IL-6 family cytokines. IL-6 binds to its receptor IL-6R and gp130, leading to JAK phosphorylation of STAT3, followed by STAT3 homodimer formation. KPNA6 is the adaptor protein to bind to STAT3 and interact with KPNB1 for the nuclear translocation. The STAT3 homodimer binds to STAT3 response element (RE) in DNA to activate transcription of target genes. PRRSV nsp5 induces STAT3 degradation to inhibit JAK-STAT3 signaling.

proinflammatory response in chickens via inhibition of STAT3 phosphorylation (Kuchipudi et al., 2014).

STAT4 is activated by IL-12 and is essential for Th1 cell differentiation (Schindler et al., 2007). Even though its distribution is restrained in myeloid cells, testis and thymus, STAT4 is critical for the host immunity. It is also activated by IL-23 to induce expansion of Th17 cells and the associated autoimmunity (Schindler et al., 2007). Moreover, STAT4 is crucial for the biological effects of macrophage, natural killer cell, mast cell, and dendritic cell as well as IFN- γ production (Liang et al., 2014).

STAT5 is activated by IL-2, IL-3, IL-5 and granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and is essential for regulatory T cell (Treg) differentiation (O'Shea and Plenge, 2012). STAT5 can also be activated by IL-7 and IL-15, contributing to the generation of CD8⁺ memory cells and B lymphopoiesis (O'Shea and Plenge, 2012; O'Shea et al., 2015). STAT5A and STAT5B are two highly related proteins and have indispensable roles, especially to the effector and Treg response, for which STAT5B is dominant (Villarino et al., 2016). Tregs takes charge of maintaining homeostasis and controlling the immune response by restraining immunocompetent effector cells (Belkaid, 2007).

STAT6 is activated by IL-4 and IL-13 and is pivotal for Th2 and Th9 lymphocyte differentiation (O'Shea et al., 2015; Walford and Doherty, 2013) (Fig. 3A). STAT6 has been demonstrated to regulate lung inflammatory responses in animal models (Walford and Doherty, 2013). Moreover, STAT6 contributes to alternative activation of macrophages and lung anti-viral responses in a JAK-independent manner (Chen et al., 2011). Viral or cytoplasmic nucleic acids trigger STING (stimulator of interferon genes) or MAVS (mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein) to recruit STAT6 to the endoplasmic reticulum, followed by TBK1 (TANK-binding

kinase 1) phosphorylation of STAT6 and nuclear translocation (Fig. 3B). Expression of chemokines, including CCL2, CCL20, and CCL26, are then activated to recruit immune cells to combat viral infection (Chen et al., 2011).

1.3. PRRSV

PRRSV is a small, enveloped RNA virus of the genus *Arterivirus*, family *Arteriviridae*, order *Nidovirales* (Faaberg et al., 2012). There are two PRRSV genotypes: Type 1 (European PRRSV) and Type 2 (North American PRRSV), which have around 60% genomic nucleotide identity (Faaberg et al., 2012). In a new proposal to the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV), PRRSV Type 1 and Type 2 viruses are classified as two separate species: *Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus 1* and *Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus 2*, respectively, due to their big genomic difference (Brinton et al., 2015).

PRRSV genome is a linear, non-segmented, single-stranded, and positive-sense RNA in a size of approximately 15 kb (Conzelmann et al., 1993; Faaberg et al., 2012). Over ten open reading frames (ORFs) have been identified in the PRRSV genome. About four-fifths of the genome encode polyproteins that are cleaved into 14 nonstructural proteins (nsps) and the 3'-terminal one-fifth encodes eight structural proteins (Lunney et al., 2016).

The main target cells for PRRSV infection *in vivo* are some monocyte/macrophage lineages, mainly pulmonary alveolar macrophages (PAMs) (Lunney et al., 2016; Rossow et al., 1995; Wensvoort et al., 1991). PAMs are important effector immune cells of the innate immune system against pathogens in the lung (Franken et al., 2016). Cytokines like IFN- γ and GM-CSF activate JAK-STAT signaling to regulate macrophage phenotype and





Fig. 3. PRRSV interferes with STAT6 signaling. A. Canonical JAK-STAT6 signaling. IL-4 and IL-13 bind to receptors, leading to JAK phosphorylation of STAT6, followed by homodimer formation and nuclear translocation to activate target genes. PRRSV reduces STAT6 protein level to inhibit the signaling. B. JAK-independent STAT6 signaling. Viral nucleic acids (dsRNA or dsDNA) activate MAVS and STING on mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum (ER), respectively, leading to TBK1 (TANK-binding kinase 1) phosphorylation of STAT6, followed by homodimer formation and nuclear translocation to activate alternative target genes, including antiviral chemokines. PRRSV reduces STAT6 protein level to inhibit the signaling.

activation (Hu et al., 2007). Activated macrophages secrete immune regulatory cytokines including IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-12, TNF- α , and so on (Franken et al., 2016).

2. PRRSV interference with JAK-STAT signaling

To evade the host antiviral response, viruses have evolved numerous strategies including dysregulating JAK-STAT pathway. For example, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) suppresses IFN signaling by inhibiting the expression of the IFN- γ receptor (Morrison et al., 2001). Paramyxovirus V protein induces STAT protein degradation to evade IFN response (Parisien et al., 2002). Ebola virus VP24 blocks pSTAT1 (phosphorylated STAT1) nuclear translocation by binding KPNA1 (Reid et al., 2006, 2007). The ORF6 product of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus disrupts nuclear import of pSTAT1 by tethering KPNA2 to the endoplasmic reticulum/Golgi membrane (Frieman et al., 2007). Highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5N1 virus inducing a strong proinflammatory response in chickens by inhibiting STAT3 phosphorylation (Kuchipudi et al., 2014). PRRSV is known to inhibit IFN-activated JAK-STAT signaling by blocking the ISGF3 nuclear translocation (Patel et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013b).

2.1. PRRSV inhibits IFN-mediated JAK-STAT signaling

PRRSV inhibits the IFN-activated JAK-STAT signal transduction and ISG expression in both MARC-145 and PAM cells (Patel et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013a, 2013b). PRRSV proliferation in MARC-145 cells suppresses JAK-STAT signaling stimulated by IFN- α . The transcripts of ISG15 and ISG56 and protein level of STAT2 in PRRSVinfected cells were much lower than mock-infected cells upon IFN stimulation. PRRSV blocks the nuclear translocation of the IFNinduced ISGF3 complex via nsp1 β (Chen et al., 2010; Patel et al., 2010). Avirulent Ingelvac[®] PRRS MLV has no effect on the IFNactivated JAK-STAT signaling in PAMs (Patel et al., 2010).

Further studies demonstrate that nsp1β inhibits the JAK-STAT signaling via inducing the degradation of KPNA1, which is a critical adaptor protein to mediate the nuclear import of ISGF3 (Wang et al., 2013b) (Fig. 1A). Infection of MARC-145 cells by moderate virulent PRRSV strains VR-2332 and VR-2385 also result in KPNA1 reduction, whereas the Ingelvac® PRRS MLV does not. Nsp1B of VR-2385 induces elevation of KPNA1 ubiquitination and shortening of its half-life. Analysis of nsp1ß deletion constructs identifies its N-terminal domain to be involved in the ubiquitinproteasomal degradation of KPNA1 (Wang et al., 2013b). Sequence analysis of nsp1B from VR-2332 and MLV indicates there are only two different nucleotides, leading to two variable amino acids at residue 19 and 151. Substitution of the N-terminal nucleotide resulting in alteration of residue 19 from valine to isoleucine abolishes the ability of VR-2385 nsp1B to induce KPNA1 degradation and to inhibit IFN-mediated signaling. In contrast, MLV nsp1 β has no effect on KPNA1, however, a mutant MLV nsp1 β with residue 19 alternation from isoleucine to valine gains the ability to induce KPNA1 degradation (Wang et al., 2013b). These data demonstrate that nsp1β blocks ISGF3 nuclear translocation to inhibit JAK-STAT signaling via inducing KPNA1 degradation and that the residue value-19 in $nsp1\beta$ correlates with the inhibition.

Besides nsp1 β , other PRRSV proteins including nsp7, nsp12, GP3 and N also inhibit IFN-induced downstream signaling, albeit at a smaller scale (Wang et al., 2013a). The N protein inhibits IFNactivated signaling by blocking STAT1 nuclear translocation (Wang et al., 2013a). Among PRRSV strains, there are variable effects on the IFN-activated JAK-STAT signaling. In MARC-145 cells, PRRSV strains VR-2385, VR-2332, NVSL97-7895, and Lelystad, but not MN184, block the activity of exogenous IFN- α (Wang et al., 2013a). In primary PAMs, strain VR-2385, VR-2332, MN184, and Lelystad, but not NVSL, inhibit the activity of IFN- α . For NVSL97-7895 and MN184, the same virus infection in MARC-145 and PAM cells has variable effects on the IFN-activated signaling. This is not totally unexpected as NVSL strain differs from other PRRSV strains in its failure to induce IL-10 expression *in vivo* (Subramaniam et al., 2011). These two strains might have alternative interacting mechanisms with the JAK-STAT signaling in the two types of cells.

2.2. PRRSV inhibits JAK-STAT3 signaling

Among all the STAT proteins, STAT3 is known as highly pleiotropic in mediating the expression of a variety of genes in response to both cytokines and growth factors, and thus plays a pivotal role in numerous cellular processes including cell survival, proliferation, embryogenesis, and immune responses (Kuchipudi, 2015; Xiong et al., 2014). Thus STAT3 has been found to be the target of some viral pathogens. Measles virus V protein inhibits IL-6 mediated STAT3 signaling (Ulane et al., 2003). V protein of mumps virus prevents responses to IL-6 and v-Src by inducing STAT3 ubiquitination and degradation (Ulane et al., 2005). Rabies virus interferon antagonist P protein inhibits gp130 receptor signaling by interacting with activated STAT3 (Lieu et al., 2013). Inhibition of STAT3 signaling by these viruses and PRRSV can lead to inhibition of a broad spectrum of cytokines and growth factors to thwart host antiviral responses and allow virus replication and spread in vivo.

OSM, a member of the IL-6 family activating JAK-STAT3 signaling, enhances the antiviral effects of IFN- α and plays a role in the induction of an adaptive immune response to pathogens (Ikeda et al., 2009; Larrea et al., 2009). Treatment of MARC-145 cells with OSM alone leads to inhibition of PRRSV replication (Yang et al., 2016). To overcome the inhibition, PRRSV uses a strategy to reduce STAT3 protein level.

PRRSV infection of MARC-145 cells and primary PAMs leads to significant reduction of STAT3, whereas it has minimum effect on STAT1 protein level (Yang et al., 2016). Several PRRSV strains tested induce a similar reduction of STAT3 protein level but have no effect on its transcript level. Treatment of the PRRSV-infected cells with MG-132, a proteasomal inhibitor, restores the STAT3 level. The further study identifies that PRRSV nsp5 induces the STAT3 degradation, shown by increased polyubiquitination level and shortened half-life (Yang et al., 2016). As a result, nsp5 inhibited STAT3 signaling. Further study is being undertaken to elucidate the mechanism.

2.3. PRRSV interference with other STATs and JAKs

As aforementioned, other STATs also have important roles in the host immune response. Besides inhibiting JAK-STAT1/STAT2 and JAK-STAT3 signaling, PRRSV might interfere with other STATs. Our preliminary study shows that PRRSV reduces STAT2 and STAT6 protein level (unpublished result). Further study is being undertaken to delineate the mechanisms.

A recent study shows that PRRSV upregulates a host microRNA, miR-30c, which is a negative regulator by targeting JAK1 (Zhang et al., 2016). PRRSV reduces JAK1 expression in infected cells and is expected to affect the phosphorylation of both STAT1 and STAT2. But in our studies, IFN-induced phosphorylation of both STAT1 and STAT2 in PRRSV-infected MARC-145 cells was not affected (Patel et al., 2010). It may play a role *in vivo* as PRRSV infection in pigs leads to elevation of miR-30c in lungs and PAMs and its level corresponds to the viral load (Zhang et al., 2016). This indicates that PRRSV has multiple strategies to block host IFN-signaling.

3. Perspective

PRRSV uses multiple strategies to evade the host innate and adaptive immunity. By interfering with the JAK-STAT signaling, PRRSV may perturb the function of cytokines in the regulation of the host immune response.

3.1. PRRSV and IFN-mediated JAK-STAT signaling

IFNs are essential for antiviral response and targeted by PRRSV at multiple levels ranging from the induction of IFNs, IFN-activated JAK-STAT signaling, to ISGs. PRRSV interference of IFN induction has been reviewed elsewhere (Sun et al., 2012a; Wang and Zhang, 2014). The modulation of innate immunity by nsp1 is conserved in all members of *Arteriviridae* (Han and Yoo, 2014). PRRSV also interferes with ISGs, for example, nsp2 inhibits ISG15 by reducing its production and counteracting its conjugation to cellular proteins (Sun et al., 2012b). PRRSV downregulates interferoninduced double-strand RNA-activated protein kinase (PKR) at its early infection of PAMs (Xiao et al., 2016). PRRSV counteracts interferon-induced transmembrane protein 1 (IFITM1) and Tetherin in MARC-145 cells by nsp3 and E proteins, respectively, (Wang et al., 2014). It is expected that PRRSV may antagonize other ISGs that restrict the virus entry, replication, and spread.

The JAK-STAT signaling is modulated by host suppressive signals, such as suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins, ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase 18 (USP18), and miRNAs (Croker et al., 2008; Ivashkiv and Donlin, 2014). PRRSV upregulates the suppressive signals to antagonize JAK-STAT pathway. For example, PRRSV infection leads to upregulation of SOCS1 (Wysocki et al., 2012); PRRSV upregulates miRNA miR-30c against JAK1 (Zhang et al., 2016). But overexpression of USP18 leads to a reduction of PRRSV replication (Ait-Ali et al., 2009). Further study needs to be done to determine the mechanism.

The combined effect of multiple perturbations by PRRSV results in efficient PRRSV replication and invasion, and consequently, contributes to the poor induction of protective immune response. Minimizing the interference is expected to improve the host immune response to PRRSV infection. Indeed, PRRSV strain A2MC2, which induces type I IFNs in infected cells *in vitro* and has no inhibitory effect on IFN signaling (Nan et al., 2012), elicits higher virus-neutralizing antibodies than the MLV in pigs (Wang et al., 2013c). Site-directed mutagenesis of R128 and R129 of nsp1 β reduced its inhibition of IFN induction and leads to improvement of innate and adaptive immune responses (Li et al., 2016).

3.2. PRRSV antagonizes JAK-STAT3 signaling pathway

As mentioned above, STAT3 has pleiotropic activity and plays important roles in many biological processes. STAT3 is a central regulator of lymphocyte differentiation and function (Kane et al., 2014). STAT3 is needed for activation and maturation of dendritic cells (DCs) and plasmacytoid DCs are considered to be the major source of IFN- α production during viral infection. STAT3 deficiency affects the generation of memory CD8⁺ T cells (Cui et al., 2011; Siegel et al., 2011) and memory B cells (Avery et al., 2010; Deenick et al., 2013). PRRSV infection induces a weak cell-mediated immune response, in which PRRSV-specific T cells transiently appears two weeks after infection without a change in frequencies of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-cells (Xiao et al., 2004). The STAT3 antagonizing may be one of the reasons for PRRSV interference with the development of protective immune response.

PRRSV inhibits STAT3 signaling by inducing degradation of STAT3 but has minimum effect on STAT1 protein level (Yang et al., 2016). This reduction appears to be an intrinsic property of PRRSV as both Type 1 and 2 PRRSV strains are able to downregulate STAT3.

PRRSV infection in pigs leads to elevation of IL-10 (Chung and Chae, 2003; Suradhat and Thanawongnuwech, 2003) and induces lung lesions with inflammatory cell infiltration (Halbur et al., 1995). IL-10 signaling via mediator STAT3 results in the generation of regulatory macrophages, which have an anti-inflammatory activity to dampen immunopathology. PRRSV antagonizing STAT3 signaling could interfere with the IL-10 regulatory function and leads to dysregulation of inflammation.

PRRSV nsp5 is responsible for the STAT3 reduction. Nsp5 is a hydrophobic transmembrane protein and can possibly form a membranous structure in the cytoplasm that could be the site for PRRSV replication (Lunney et al., 2016). No direct interaction between nsp5 and STAT3 is identified, which suggests that nsp5 might activate an E3 ligase of STAT3. Further study will reveal the mechanism of the induction of STAT3 degradation.

3.3. PRRSV's effect on STAT2/5/6 signaling

As aforementioned, other than STAT1 and STAT3, other STAT proteins have also been shown to be significant for the host immune response. STAT2 is involved in STAT1-independent signaling by interacting with IRF9 to drive the expression of ISRE-containing genes (Bluyssen, 2015; Fink and Grandvaux, 2013). As PRRSV reduces STAT2 protein, we expect it inhibits the STAT1independent antiviral signaling.

PRRSV's effect on the signaling of STAT4, STAT5 and STAT6 has not been determined yet. The main target cells for PRRSV infection are certain lineages of monocytes/macrophages *in vivo*. The PRRSV effect on JAK-STAT signaling in T cells would be indirect, such as by exosomes from infected cells (Garcia-Nicolas et al., 2016; Montaner-Tarbes et al., 2016). But its interference of the JAK-STAT signaling in infected macrophages would have significant consequence as the response of PAMs against viral or bacterial pathogens is critical in determining the outcome of infection in the host. Cytokines like IFN-γ and GM-CSF activate JAK-STAT signaling to regulate macrophage phenotype and activation (Hu et al., 2007). Activated macrophages secrete immune regulatory cytokines including IL-1β, IL-6, IL-12, TNF-α and so on (Franken et al., 2016).

STAT6 has been demonstrated to have JAK-independent antiviral signaling (Chen et al., 2011). PRRSV is expected to inhibit this alternative STAT6 signaling, which may contribute to the PRRSV evasion. Indeed, PRRSV reduces STAT6 protein level in infected MARC-145 cells (unpublished result). Further study will examine the mechanisms of the interference of STAT6 signaling.

4. Conclusion

In conclusion, PRRSV perturbs JAK-STAT signaling pathways by disturbing STATs protein level and their nuclear translocation. PRRSV inhibits IFN-activated JAK-STAT signaling by blocking nuclear translocation of ISGF3 (Patel et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2013b). Recently, we discovered that PRRSV inhibits JAK-STAT3 signaling via inducing degradation of the STAT3 protein (Yang et al., 2016). We also noticed that STAT2 and STAT6 protein levels were much lower in PRRSV-infected cells than uninfected controls (unpublished results). PRRSV interaction with the JAK-STAT signaling pathways is complex and consequences would be possibly depending on the context of the milieu during infection.

Despite substantial efforts to study and control PRRS, no production or vaccination regimen has demonstrated sustaining success (Renukaradhya et al., 2015a, 2015b). This is likely in part due to the PRRSV poor induction of protective immune response, allowing for PRRSV replication, spread, and persistence in infected populations. Elucidation of the mechanisms of PRRSV evasion of JAK-STAT signaling would yield insightful information, which may facilitate the development of improved vaccines or therapeutics against PRRSV and other pathogens.

Conflicts of interest

None.

Acknowledgement

This study was partially funded by the National Pork Board and internal fund of the University of Maryland.

References

- Ait-Ali, T., Wilson, A.W., Finlayson, H., Carre, W., Ramaiahgari, S.C., Westcott, D.G., Waterfall, M., Frossard, J.P., Baek, K.H., Drew, T.W., Bishop, S.C., Archibald, A.L., 2009. Functional analysis of the porcine USP18 and its role during porcine arterivirus replication. Gene 439, 35-42.
- Albina, E., Carrat, C., Charley, B., 1998. Interferon-alpha response to swine arterivirus (PoAV), the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 18, 485-490.
- Avery, D.T., Deenick, E.K., Ma, C.S., Suryani, S., Simpson, N., Chew, G.Y., Chan, T.D., Palendira, U., Bustamante, J., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Choo, S., Bleasel, K.E., Peake, J., King, C., French, M.A., Engelhard, D., Al-Hajjar, S., Al-Muhsen, S., Magdorf, K., Roesler, J., Arkwright, P.D., Hissaria, P., Riminton, D.S., Wong, M., Brink, R., Fulcher, D.A., Casanova, J.L., Cook, M.C., Tangye, S.G., 2010. B cell-intrinsic signaling through IL-21 receptor and STAT3 is required for establishing longlived antibody responses in humans. J. Exp. Med. 207, 155-171.
- Belkaid, Y., 2007. Regulatory T cells and infection: a dangerous necessity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7. 875-888.
- Blaszczyk, K., Olejnik, A., Nowicka, H., Ozgyin, L., Chen, Y.L., Chmielewski, S., Kostyrko, K., Wesoly, J., Balint, B.L., Lee, C.K., Bluyssen, H.A., 2015. STAT2/IRF9 directs a prolonged ISGF3-like transcriptional response and antiviral activity in the absence of STAT1. Biochem. J. 466, 511–524. Bluyssen, H.A., Levy, D.E., 1997. Stat2 is a transcriptional activator that requires
- sequence-specific contacts provided by stat1 and p48 for stable interaction with DNA. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 4600-4605.
- Bluyssen, H., 2015. STAT2-directed pathogen responses. Oncotarget 6, 28525-28526.
- Brinton, M.A., Gulyaeva, A., Balasuriya, U.B.R., Dunowska, M., Faaberg, K.S., Leung, F. C.-C., Nauwynck, H.J., Snijder, E.J., Stadejek, T., Gorbalenya, A.E., 2015. In the family Arteriviridae create 10 species (1 unassigned, 9 in the genus Arterivirus) and rename one species. International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) - Collaboration, Information, Files, and Discussion..
- Buddaert, W., Van Reeth, K., Pensaert, M., 1998. In vivo and in vitro interferon (IFN) studies with the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 440, 461-467.
- Casanova, J.L., Holland, S.M., Notarangelo, L.D., 2012. Inborn errors of human JAKs and STATs. Immunity 36, 515-528.
- Chen, Z., Laurence, A., Kanno, Y., Pacher-Zavisin, M., Zhu, B.M., Tato, C., Yoshimura, A., Hennighausen, L., O'Shea, J.J., 2006. Selective regulatory function of Socs3 in the formation of IL-17-secreting T cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 8137-8142.
- Chen, Z., Lawson, S., Sun, Z., Zhou, X., Guan, X., Christopher-Hennings, J., Nelson, E.A., Fang, Y., 2010. Identification of two auto-cleavage products of nonstructural protein 1 (nsp1) in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infected cells: nsp1 function as interferon antagonist. Virology 398, 87-97.
- Chen, H., Sun, H., You, F., Sun, W., Zhou, X., Chen, L., Yang, J., Wang, Y., Tang, H., Guan, Y., Xia, W., Gu, J., Ishikawa, H., Gutman, D., Barber, G., Qin, Z., Jiang, Z., 2011. Activation of STAT6 by STING is critical for antiviral innate immunity. Cell 147. 436-446.
- Chung, H.K., Chae, C., 2003. Expression of interleukin-10 and interleukin-12 in piglets experimentally infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). J. Comp. Pathol. 129, 205-212.
- Conzelmann, K.K., Visser, N., Van Woensel, P., Thiel, H.J., 1993. Molecular characterization of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus, a member of the arterivirus group. Virology 193, 329-339.
- Croker, B.A., Kiu, H., Nicholson, S.E., 2008. SOCS regulation of the JAK/STAT signalling pathway. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 19, 414-422.
- Cui, W., Liu, Y., Weinstein, J.S., Craft, J., Kaech, S.M., 2011. An interleukin-21interleukin-10-STAT3 pathway is critical for functional maturation of memory CD8+ T cells. Immunity 35, 792-805.
- Darnell Jr., J.E., Kerr, I.M., Stark, G.R., 1994. Jak-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signaling proteins. Science 264, 1415-1421.
- Deenick, E.K., Avery, D.T., Chan, A., Berglund, L.J., Ives, M.L., Moens, L., Stoddard, J.L., Bustamante, J., Boisson-Dupuis, S., Tsumura, M., Kobayashi, M., Arkwright, P.D., Averbuch, D., Engelhard, D., Roesler, J., Peake, J., Wong, M., Adelstein, S., Choo, S., Smart, J.M., French, M.A., Fulcher, D.A., Cook, M.C., Picard, C., Durandy, A., Klein, C., Holland, S.M., Uzel, G., Casanova, J.L., Ma, C.S., Tangye, S.G., 2013. Naive and memory human B cells have distinct requirements for STAT3 activation to differentiate into antibody-secreting plasma cells. J. Exp. Med. 210, 2739–2753.

- El Kasmi, K.C., Holst, J., Coffre, M., Mielke, L., de Pauw, A., Lhocine, N., Smith, A.M., Rutschman, R., Kaushal, D., Shen, Y., Suda, T., Donnelly, R.P., Myers Jr., M.G. Alexander, W., Vignali, D.A., Watowich, S.S., Ernst, M., Hilton, D.J., Murray, P.J., 2006. General nature of the STAT3-activated anti-inflammatory response. J. Immunol. 177, 7880-7888.
- Faaberg, K.S., Balasuriya, U.B., Brinton, M.A., Gorbalenya, A.E., Leung, F.C.-C., Nauwynck, H., Snijder, E.J., Stadejek, T., Yang, H., Yoo, D., 2012. Family arteriviridae. In: King, A.M.Q., Adams, M.J., Carstens, E.B., Lefkowitz, E.J. (Eds.), Virus Taxonomy: Classification and Nomenclature of Viruses: Ninth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego.
- Fink, K., Grandvaux, N., 2013. STAT2 and IRF9: beyond ISGF3. Jak-Stat 2, e27521. Franken, L., Schiwon, M., Kurts, C., 2016. Macrophages: sentinels and regulators of the immune system. Cell. Microbiol. 18, 475-487.
- Frieman, M., Yount, B., Heise, M., Kopecky-Bromberg, S.A., Palese, P., Baric, R.S., 2007. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus ORF6 antagonizes STAT1 function by sequestering nuclear import factors on the rough endoplasmic reticulum/Golgi membrane. J. Virol. 81, 9812-9824.
- Garbers, C., Aparicio-Siegmund, S., Rose-John, S., 2015. The IL-6/gp130/STAT3 signaling axis: recent advances towards specific inhibition. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 34, 75-82.
- Garcia-Nicolas, O., Auray, G., Sautter, C.A., Rappe, J.C., McCullough, K.C., Ruggli, N., Summerfield, A., 2016. Sensing of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus-Infected macrophages by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Front. Microbiol. 7, 771.
- Gonzalez-Navajas, J.M., Lee, J., David, M., Raz, E., 2012. Immunomodulatory functions of type I interferons. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 12, 125-135.
- Haan, C., Kreis, S., Margue, C., Behrmann, I., 2006. Jaks and cytokine receptors-an intimate relationship. Biochem. Pharmacol. 72, 1538-1546.
- Halbur, P.G., Paul, P.S., Frey, M.L., Landgraf, J., Eernisse, K., Meng, X.J., Lum, M.A., Andrews, J.J., Rathje, J.A., 1995. Comparison of the pathogenicity of two US porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolates with that of the Lelystad virus. Vet. Pathol. 32, 648-660.
- Han, M., Yoo, D., 2014. Modulation of innate immune signaling by nonstructural protein 1 (nsp1) in the family Arteriviridae. Virus Res. 194, 100–109. Heim, M.H., Kerr, I.M., Stark, G.R., Darnell Jr., J.E., 1995. Contribution of STAT SH2
- groups to specific interferon signaling by the Jak-STAT pathway. Science 267, 1347-1349.
- Holland, S.M., DeLeo, F.R., Elloumi, H.Z., Hsu, A.P., Uzel, G., Brodsky, N., Freeman, A.F., Demidowich, A., Davis, J., Turner, M.L., Anderson, V.L., Darnell, D.N., Welch, P.A., Kuhns, D.B., Frucht, D.M., Malech, H.L., Gallin, J.I., Kobayashi, S.D., Whitney, A.R., Voyich, J.M., Musser, J.M., Woellner, C., Schaffer, A.A., Puck, J.M., Grimbacher, B., 2007. STAT3 mutations in the hyper-IgE syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 357, 1608-1619
- Holtkamp, D.J., Kliebenstein, J.B., Neumann, E.J., Zimmerman, J., Rotto, H., Yoder, T.K., Wang, C., Yeske, P., Mowrer, C., Haley, C., 2013. Assessment of the economic impact of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus on U.S. pork producers. J. Swine Health Prod. 21, 72-84.
- Hu, X., Chen, J., Wang, L., Ivashkiv, L.B., 2007. Crosstalk among Jak-STAT, Toll-like receptor, and ITAM-dependent pathways in macrophage activation. J. Leukoc. Biol. 82, 237–243.
- Ikeda, M., Mori, K., Ariumi, Y., Dansako, H., Kato, N., 2009. Oncostatin M synergistically inhibits HCV RNA replication in combination with interferonalpha. FEBS Lett. 583, 1434-1438.
- Ivashkiv, L.B., Donlin, L.T., 2014. Regulation of type I interferon responses. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 14, 36-49.
- Iwasaki, A., Medzhitov, R., 2015. Control of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. Nat. Immunol. 16, 343-353.
- Kane, A., Deenick, E.K., Ma, C.S., Cook, M.C., Uzel, G., Tangye, S.G., 2014. STAT3 is a central regulator of lymphocyte differentiation and function. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 28, 49-57.
- Kobayashi, M., Kweon, M.N., Kuwata, H., Schreiber, R.D., Kiyono, H., Takeda, K., Akira, S., 2003. Toll-like receptor-dependent production of IL-12p40 causes chronic enterocolitis in myeloid cell-specific Stat3-deficient mice. J. Clin. Invest. 111, 1297-1308.
- Kuchipudi, S.V., Tellabati, M., Sebastian, S., Londt, B.Z., Jansen, C., Vervelde, L., Brookes, S.M., Brown, I.H., Dunham, S.P., Chang, K.C., 2014. Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus infection in chickens but not ducks is associated with elevated host immune and pro-inflammatory responses. Vet. Res. 45, 118.
- Kuchipudi, S.V., 2015. The complex role of STAT3 in viral infections. J. Immunol. Res. 2015, 272359,
- Labarque, G.G., Nauwynck, H.J., Van Reeth, K., Pensaert, M.B., 2000. Effect of cellular changes and onset of humoral immunity on the replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in the lungs of pigs. J. Gen. Virol. 81 1327-1334
- Larrea, E., Aldabe, R., Gonzalez, I., Segura, V., Sarobe, P., Echeverria, I., Prieto, J., 2009. Oncostatin M enhances the antiviral effects of type I interferon and activates immunostimulatory functions in liver epithelial cells. J. Virol. 83, 3298-3311.
- Li, Y., Shyu, D.L., Shang, P., Bai, J., Ouyang, K., Dhakal, S., Hiremath, J., Binjawadagi, B., Renukaradhya, G.J., Fang, Y., 2016. Mutations in a highly conserved motif of nsp1beta protein attenuate the innate immune suppression function of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Virol. 90, 3584–3599. Liang, Y., Pan, H.F., Ye, D.Q., 2014. Therapeutic potential of STAT4 in autoimmunity.
- Expert Opin. Ther. Targets 18, 945-960.

- Lieu, K.G., Brice, A., Wiltzer, L., Hirst, B., Jans, D.A., Blondel, D., Moseley, G.W., 2013. The rabies virus interferon antagonist P protein interacts with activated STAT3 and inhibits Gp130 receptor signaling. J. Virol. 87, 8261–8265.
- Lunney, J.K., Fang, Y., Ladinig, A., Chen, N., Li, Y., Rowland, B., Renukaradhya, G.J., 2016. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV): pathogenesis and interaction with the immune system. Ann. Rev. Animal Biosci. 4, 129–154.
- Matsukawa, A., Takeda, K., Kudo, S., Maeda, T., Kagayama, M., Akira, S., 2003. Aberrant inflammation and lethality to septic peritonitis in mice lacking STAT3 in macrophages and neutrophils. J. Immunol. 171, 6198–6205.
- Minegishi, Y., Saito, M., Tsuchiya, S., Tsuge, I., Takada, H., Hara, T., Kawamura, N., Ariga, T., Pasic, S., Stojkovic, O., Metin, A., Karasuyama, H., 2007. Dominantnegative mutations in the DNA-binding domain of STAT3 cause hyper-IgE syndrome. Nature 448, 1058–1062.
- Montaner-Tarbes, S., Borras, F.E., Montoya, M., Fraile, L., Del Portillo, H.A., 2016. Serum-derived exosomes from non-viremic animals previously exposed to the porcine respiratory and reproductive virus contain antigenic viral proteins. Vet. Res. 47, 59.
- Morrison, T.E., Mauser, A., Wong, A., Ting, J.P., Kenney, S.C., 2001. Inhibition of IFNgamma signaling by an Epstein-Barr virus immediate-early protein. Immunity 15, 787–799.
- Nan, Y., Wang, R., Shen, M., Faaberg, K.S., Samal, S.K., Zhang, Y.J., 2012. Induction of type I interferons by a novel porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus isolate. Virology 432, 261–270.
- Neumann, E.J., Kliebenstein, J.B., Johnson, C.D., Mabry, J.W., Bush, E.J., Seitzinger, A. H., Green, A.L., Zimmerman, J.J., 2005. Assessment of the economic impact of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome on swine production in the United States. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 227, 385–392.
- O'Shea, J.J., Plenge, R., 2012. JAK and STAT signaling molecules in immunoregulation and immune-mediated disease. Immunity 36, 542–550.
- O'Shea, J.J., Schwartz, D.M., Villarino, A.V., Gadina, M., McInnes, I.B., Laurence, A., 2015. The JAK-STAT pathway: impact on human disease and therapeutic intervention. Annu. Rev. Med. 66, 311–328.
- Parisien, J.P., Lau, J.F., Rodriguez, J.J., Ulane, C.M., Horvath, C.M., 2002. Selective STAT protein degradation induced by paramyxoviruses requires both STAT1 and STAT2 but is independent of alpha/beta interferon signal transduction. J. Virol. 76. 4190–4198.
- Park, S.J., Nakagawa, T., Kitamura, H., Atsumi, T., Kamon, H., Sawa, S., Kamimura, D., Ueda, N., Iwakura, Y., Ishihara, K., Murakami, M., Hirano, T., 2004. IL-6 regulates in vivo dendritic cell differentiation through STAT3 activation. J. Immunol. 173, 3844–3854.
- Patel, D., Nan, Y., Shen, M., Ritthipichai, K., Zhu, X., Zhang, Y.J., 2010. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus inhibits type I interferon signaling by blocking STAT1/STAT2 nuclear translocation. J. Virol. 84, 11045–11055.
- Ray, J.P., Marshall, H.D., Laidlaw, B.J., Staron, M.M., Kaech, S.M., Craft, J., 2014. Transcription factor STAT3 and type I interferons are corepressive insulators for differentiation of follicular helper and T helper 1 cells. Immunity 40, 367–377. Reid, S.P., Leung, L.W., Hartman, A.L., Martinez, O., Shaw, M.L., Carbonnelle, C.,
- Keid, S.F., Leung, L.W., Hartman, A.L., Martmez, O., Snaw, M.L., Carbonnene, C., Volchkov, V.E., Nichol, S.T., Basler, C.F., 2006. Ebola virus VP24 binds karyopherin alpha1 and blocks STAT1 nuclear accumulation. J. Virol. 80, 5156–5167.
- Reid, S.P., Valmas, C., Martinez, O., Sanchez, F.M., Basler, C.F., 2007. Ebola virus VP24 proteins inhibit the interaction of NPI-1 subfamily karyopherin alpha proteins with activated STAT1. J. Virol. 81, 13469–13477.
- Renukaradhya, G.J., Meng, X.J., Calvert, J.G., Roof, M., Lager, K.M., 2015a. Inactivated and subunit vaccines against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome: current status and future direction. Vaccine 33, 3065–3072.
- Renukaradhya, G.J., Meng, X.J., Calvert, J.G., Roof, M., Lager, K.M., 2015b. Live porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus vaccines: current status and future direction. Vaccine 33, 4069–4080.
- Rossow, K.D., Collins, J.E., Goyal, S.M., Nelson, E.A., Christopher Hennings, J., Benfield, D.A., 1995. Pathogenesis of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in gnotobiotic pigs. Vet. Pathol. 32, 361–373.
- syndrome virus infection in gnotobiotic pigs. Vet. Pathol. 32, 361–373. Schindler, C., Levy, D.E., Decker, T., 2007. JAK-STAT signaling: from interferons to cytokines. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 20059–20063.
- Schindler, C., 1999. Cytokines and JAK-STAT signaling. Exp. Cell Res. 253, 7-14.
- Siegel, A.M., Heimall, J., Freeman, A.F., Hsu, A.P., Brittain, E., Brenchley, J.M., Douek, D. C., Fahle, G.H., Cohen, J.I., Holland, S.M., Milner, J.D., 2011. A critical role for STAT3 transcription factor signaling in the development and maintenance of human T cell memory. Immunity 35, 806–818.
- Stark, G.R., Darnell Jr., J.E., 2012. The JAK-STAT pathway at twenty. Immunity 36, 503–514.
- Subramaniam, S., Sur, J.H., Kwon, B., Pattnaik, A.K., Osorio, F.A., 2011. A virulent strain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus does not up-regulate interleukin-10 levels in vitro or in vivo. Virus Res. 155, 415–422.
- Sun, Y., Han, M., Kim, C., Calvert, J.G., Yoo, D., 2012a. Interplay between interferonmediated innate immunity and porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Viruses 4, 424–446.
- Sun, Z., Li, Y., Ransburgh, R., Snijder, E.J., Fang, Y., 2012b. Nonstructural protein 2 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus inhibits the antiviral function of interferon-stimulated gene 15. J. Virol. 86, 3839–3850.

- Suradhat, S., Thanawongnuwech, R., 2003. Upregulation of interleukin-10 gene expression in the leukocytes of pigs infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Gen. Virol. 84, 2755–2760.
- Takaoka, A., Yanai, H., 2006. Interferon signalling network in innate defence. Cell. Microbiol. 8, 907–922.
- Ulane, C.M., Rodriguez, J.J., Parisien, J.P., Horvath, C.M., 2003. STAT3 ubiquitylation and degradation by mumps virus suppress cytokine and oncogene signaling. J. Virol. 77, 6385–6393.
- Ulane, C.M., Kentsis, A., Cruz, C.D., Parisien, J.P., Schneider, K.L., Horvath, C.M., 2005. Composition and assembly of STAT-targeting ubiquitin ligase complexes: paramyxovirus V protein carboxyl terminus is an oligomerization domain. J. Virol. 79, 10180–10189.
- Villarino, A.V., Kanno, Y., Ferdinand, J.R., O'Shea, J.J., 2015. Mechanisms of Jak/STAT signaling in immunity and disease. J. Immunol. 194, 21–27.
- Villarino, A., Laurence, A., Robinson, G.W., Bonelli, M., Dema, B., Afzali, B., Shih, H.Y., Sun, H.W., Brooks, S.R., Hennighausen, L., Kanno, Y., O'Shea, J.J., 2016. Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 (STAT5) paralog dose governs T cell effector and regulatory functions. Elife 5.
- Walford, H.H., Doherty, T.A., 2013. STAT6 and lung inflammation. Jak-Stat 2, e25301.Wang, R., Zhang, Y.J., 2014. Antagonizing interferon-mediated immune response by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. BioMed Res. Int. 2014,
- 315470. Wang, R., Nan, Y., Yu, Y., Yang, Z., Zhang, Y.J., 2013a. Variable interference with interferon signal transduction by different strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. Vet. Microbiol. 166, 493–503.
- Wang, R., Nan, Y., Yu, Y., Zhang, Y.J., 2013b. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus Nsp1beta inhibits interferon-activated JAK/STAT signal transduction by inducing karyopherin-alpha1 degradation. J. Virol. 87, 5219– 5228.
- Wang, R., Xiao, Y., Opriessnig, T., Ding, Y., Yu, Y., Nan, Y., Ma, Z., Halbur, P.G., Zhang, Y. J., 2013c. Enhancing neutralizing antibody production by an interferon-inducing porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus strain. Vaccine 31, 5537– 5543.
- Wang, X., Li, C., Zhou, L., Zhang, N., Ge, X., Guo, X., Yang, H., 2014. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus counteracts the porcine intrinsic virus restriction factors-IFITM1 and Tetherin in MARC-145 cells. Virus Res. 191, 92–100.
- Wensvoort, G., Terpstra, C., Pol, J.M., ter Laak, E.A., Bloemraad, M., de Kluyver, E.P., Kragten, C., van Buiten, L., den Besten, A., Wagenaar, F., et al., 1991. Mystery swine disease in The Netherlands: the isolation of Lelystad virus. Vet. Q. 13, 121– 130.
- Wills, R.W., Doster, A.R., Galeota, J.A., Sur, J.H., Osorio, F.A., 2003. Duration of infection and proportion of pigs persistently infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. J. Clin. Microbiol. 41, 58–62.
- Wysocki, M., Chen, H., Steibel, J.P., Kuhar, D., Petry, D., Bates, J., Johnson, R., Ernst, C. W., Lunney, J.K., 2012. Identifying putative candidate genes and pathways involved in immune responses to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) infection. Anim. Genet. 43, 328–332.
- Xiao, Z., Batista, L., Dee, S., Halbur, P., Murtaugh, M.P., 2004. The level of virusspecific T-cell and macrophage recruitment in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in pigs is independent of virus load. J. Virol. 78, 5923–5933.
- Xiao, Y., Ma, Z., Wang, R., Yang, L., Nan, Y., Zhang, Y.J., 2016. Downregulation of protein kinase PKR activation by porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus at its early stage infection. Vet. Microbiol. 187, 1–7.
- Xiong, A., Yang, Z., Shen, Y., Zhou, J., Shen, Q., 2014. Transcription factor STAT3 as a novel molecular target for cancer prevention. Cancers 6, 926–957.
- Yajima, T., Yasukawa, H., Jeon, E.S., Xiong, D., Dorner, A., Iwatate, M., Nara, M., Zhou, H., Summers-Torres, D., Hoshijima, M., Chien, K.R., Yoshimura, A., Knowlton, K. U., 2006. Innate defense mechanism against virus infection within the cardiac myocyte requiring gp130-STAT3 signaling. Circulation 114, 2364–2373.
- Yang, L., Wang, R., Ma, Z., Xiao, Y., Nan, Y., Wang, Y., Lin, S., Zhang, Y.J., 2016. Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus antagonizes JAK/STAT3 signaling via Nsp5 by inducing STAT3 degradation. J Virol. Nov 23. pii: JVI.02087-16. [Epub ahead of print].
- Yu, C.R., Dambuza, I.M., Lee, Y.J., Frank, G.M., Egwuagu, C.E., 2013. STAT3 regulates proliferation and survival of CD8+ T cells: enhances effector responses to HSV-1 infection, and inhibits IL-10+ regulatory CD8+ T cells in autoimmune uveitis. Mediators Inflamm. 2013, 359674.
- Zhang, Q., Huang, C., Yang, Q., Gao, L., Liu, H.C., Tang, J., Feng, W.H., 2016. MicroRNA-30c modulates type I IFN responses to facilitate porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection by targeting JAK1. J. Immunol. 196, 2272– 2282.
- Zhou, Z., Hamming, O.J., Ank, N., Paludan, S.R., Nielsen, A.L., Hartmann, R., 2007. Type III interferon (IFN) induces a type 1 IFN-like response in a restricted subset of cells through signaling pathways involving both the Jak-STAT pathway and the mitogen-activated protein kinases. J. Virol. 81, 7749–7758.